IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

**FILED**

SID J. WHITE

MAY 22 1989

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By \_\_\_\_\_  
Deputy Clerk

CHARLIE BROWN, JR.,  
Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,  
Respondent.

---

CASE NO. 73,590

ON A PETITION TO REVIEW THE DECISION  
OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL,  
FIRST DISTRICT, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

NEAL L. BETANCOURT, ESQUIRE  
Florida Bar #178967  
221 E. Church Street  
Jacksonville, Florida 32202  
(904) 354-3444

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On September 25, 1987, Charlie Brown, Jr., was arrested for armed robbery, possession of a firearm during the commission of a felony, and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. He stood accused of robbing a Barnett Bank in downtown Jacksonville. (R 1-2). At his first appearance the next day he was adjudged insolvent and the Public Defender appointed, while he was held without bond. (R-3)

On October 5, 1987, the State filed an information charging Brown with armed robbery (two counts), aggravated assault (two counts), carrying a concealed firearm, and use of a firearm during the commission of a felony. (R 7&8). The same day the Public Defender's Office was allowed to withdraw as his counsel and a private attorney was appointed by the Court. (R 9). The usual discovery motions and responses (R 11-16) were filed and, additionally, Brown filed a Motion to Dismiss (R 17-19), alleging generally that the two aggravated assault charges and the charge of use of a firearm during the commission of a felony offended double jeopardy provisions of the United States Constitution. That motion was denied. (R 20)

On February 12, 1988, the State filed its amended information (R 28-91, alleging again two counts of armed robbery, two counts of aggravated assault, use of a firearm during the commission of a felony, and threatening to discharge a destructive device. The Defendant, in response thereto, filed a Motion to Dismiss

(R 30-31) the fourth count (one of the aggravated assaults) and the fifth count (use of a firearm, etc.). On the day of trial the Court dismissed the fifth count, but denied the motion as to the aggravated assault counts. (R 32) However, at the conclusion of all evidence in the case, the Court reversed itself and granted the Defendant's Motion to Dismiss as to the two aggravated assault charges (Counts 2 and 4 in the Amended Information). (T 175-6) In any event, eleven State witnesses testified to the jury, as will be detailed below. The Defendant neither testified nor offered witnesses.

Following closing argument, jury deliberations resulted in verdicts (R 24-6) of guilty of the offense of "Robbery with a Deadly Weapon" (a violation of Florida Statute §812.13[2][a], as to two counts involving different victims) and also guilty of "Threatening to Discharge a Destructive Device". (F.S. §790.162) Defendant's Motion for New Trial (R 37) was denied. (R 38) A guideline score sheet was prepared (R 63) using "Category 3" (Rule 3.988 [c], Fla. RCrP) and resulting in a total score of 180 points, which in turn, placed him in a guideline sentence range of 4½ to 5½ years. (R 63)

At the sentencing hearing the State argued for an upward departure from the guidelines. The Court sentenced Brown to sentences of 50 years for the two robbery counts and 15 years for the offense of Threatening to Discharge a Destructive Device, all



running concurrently. (R 54-59) On that same day the Court filed its "Reasons for Exceeding Sentencing Guidelines" (R 60-2) citing four grounds for departure: (1) Petitioner's flagrant disregard for the safety of bystanders, (2) his recent release from prison, (3) his lack of regard for the law and the judicial system as demonstrated by his failure to comply with the conditions of his release on a bond, and (4) premeditation.

Defendant was adjudged insolvent for purposes of appeal and his trial attorney was reappointed to represent him therein. (R 66) A timely Notice of Appeal (R 69) was filed on March 9, 1988.

Petitioner appealed only the departure from the presumptive guideline sentence. He attacked all four grounds as invalid, but the First District Court of Appeal held the justification given, "lack of regard for the judiciary and the law", to be a permissible ground. Brown v. State, 535 So.2d 671 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988) It found there to be an adequate factual basis for same when the trial court had held that the Petitioner's failure to abide by his condition of release on bond from another offense, along with the short interval between his release and the instant offense, demonstrated a contempt for the judicial system. The appellate court did not comment upon the other three grounds, holding instead that a departure from guidelines may be upheld when at least one of the reasons given is valid, regardless of the validity, vel non, of others. In so doing, it cited

9921.001, Florida Statutes (1987), as amended by Chapter 87-110, Laws of Florida. Accordingly, the aforesaid sentences were upheld in their entirety.

Mandate issued on January 6, 1989.

On January 17, 1989, Petitioner moved to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court on the ground that direct conflict existed with the decisions of other District Courts of Appeal. On April 14, 1989, this Court entered its Order Accepting Jurisdiction and Dispensing with Oral Argument.

#### Summary of Trial Testimony

Brown did ~~not~~ appeal the sufficiency of the evidence supporting the judgments in this case, but rather appealed only the validity of the upward departure from the guideline sentence. That portion of the trial court's order ("Reasons for Exceeding Guideline Sentence") at issue in this review did not refer to any specific fact adduced at trial; rather, it mentioned Brown's alleged violations of a Order for Bail in a different case (R 61). Nonetheless, in the interest of completeness, there is set forth here a synopsis of that trial testimony.

The first State's witness was one Donnie Webb, an armed and uniformed security guard stationed near the inside entrance to a Barnett Bank in downtown Jacksonville. He testified that on September 25, 1987, an individual, whom he identified in court as the Petitioner (T 30), entered the bank carrying an automatic pistol and wearing a mask over his face. (T 30) Webb said Brown

pointed the gun at him and had him surrender his own weapon. (T 33) The assailant then put a paper bag on the floor and told the guard that if he saw a policeman he would shoot the bag, destroy the guard, himself, and everyone else in the bank, (T 34) The intruder then had the guard proceed to a teller window and, at gunpoint collect money from that teller. (T 34) After the guard handed it to Brown, he demanded more money from the teller, who went to another teller station and obtained it. (T 36) The robber then backed out of the bank, picking up the guard's gun and the brown paper bag as he left. (T 36-7)

Webb let the robber get some distance away, but then followed him closely enough that he could see the man's face when he took off the mask. (T 37-8) He watched him go through a parking lot and get into an automobile, followed closely by what appeared to be an unmarked police car. (T 38-9)

Webb also said that he made an identification of the man later that afternoon when he was returned into police custody. (T 39) Likewise, his service revolver was returned to him on that occasion. (T 40)

The second state's witness was Suzanne Schouller, a bank teller who testified that she saw the masked figure enter the bank, hold up the guard, and then have him approach her window to obtain money. (T 55-6) She complied, handing over her "bait money" and then at the robber's demand, got additional "bait money" from teller Norvise Kennedy's station. (T 56-7) She

later identified Brown as the robber when he was returned to the bank in police custody (T 59), and in court (T 54).

Ms. Kennedy, supervisory teller on the date in question, told of watching Ms. Schouller being robbed and the guard being held at gun point. (T 67-9) Because the gunman demanded it, she allowed Schouller to get some of her funds, and then saw the robber leaving the bank, retrieving both the guard's gun and the brown paper bag on the floor. (T 69-71) She also observed the man's unmasked profile as he was leaving the vicinity of the bank. (T 71) Finally, she identified him in the police custody on the day of the robbery, and also in the courtroom. (T 72.3)

Marcia McCann next testified that she was in an office directly across the street from the bank when a man (whom she later learned was a Barnett teller on his lunch hour) entered the office to summon the police for an emergency at the bank. (T 78-a) Ms. McCann and her associate, Don Wilford (the next witness) began watching the bank, and saw an individual exit same, removing a mask shortly thereafter and crossing the street directly in front of their vantage point. (T 79-81) With intentions of following him, Wilford and she got into a truck, but lost sight of him in a parking lot. (T 81)

Ms. McCann was asked to view the police showup and identified Brown as the robber there. (T 82) She also pointed him out in the courtroom. (T 82)

Don Wilford's testimony was next, and was substantially the

same as Ms. McCann's, including both his out-of-court (T 93) and in-court identification of Brown. (T 89)

The second day of testimony began with John W. McClellan, Jr., as witness. A teller at the Barnett Bank back on September 25, he was preparing to leave the bank on lunch break when he noticed Brown outside the bank, pulling a "ski cap" over his head (TR 102) and producing a pistol as he entered the bank. McClellan immediately went to an office across the street to call the police while watching the scene unfolding (T 103) through the window. He saw Brown's face and watched him traverse a parking lot and get into a certain vehicle. He then saw a detective's car arriving as Brown's car drove off. (TR 104). He too, identified the Defendant in the police custody that day, as well as in the courtroom. (T 105)

A uniformed patrol officer, R. V. Nelson, was the seventh state's witness. On the morning of the offense he headed for the bank upon being notified of the robbery alarm and noticed a certain green vehicle speeding away from the scene. (T 109-10) The officer immediately attempted to stop the vehicle with his siren and light, but a chase ensued. (T 110) At one point he followed the suspect car through the streets, sidewalk, and yards of a housing complex until the car exited on to a street and then became stuck in a field. (T 110-11) Next Brown jumped out of the car and the officer pursued on foot. (T 112) The chase ended

abruptly when the Defendant was struck by a detective's automobile. (T 113) The impact knocked loose a handgun the suspect was carrying, as well as a bag. (T 113) The bag ripped open, revealing money, gloves, and a mask. (T 114) The Defendant picked himself up and tried to flee once more, but was subdued through the joint efforts of Nelson and the detective. (T 114) Officer Nelson identified Brown in the courtroom as the person he apprehended on the occasion described. (T 109)

That detective, Alve Powell, next testified for the State. Powell described how he first saw Defendant's vehicle speeding away from a parking lot near the Barnett Bank, (T 119) He described the route of the chase, explaining how pedestrians had to run to get out of the way. (T 120) At one point he momentarily lost sight of the patrol car and suspect's vehicle, but saw Brown exit his vehicle with the policeman right behind him. (T 121) He watched the two run on foot behind houses, then Brown emerged immediately in front of his vehicle, carrying a plastic bag in one hand and a firearm in the other. (T 121) The officer accelerated his vehicle, knocking Brown to the street and causing him to drop the firearm, bag, money, ski-type mask, and a pair of gloves. (T 122) The detective then identified photographs depicting those items, the suspect's car, and the scene, all as seen on the day of the incident. (T 122-5) Finally, the detective described the show-up identification procedure con-

ducted back at the bank. (T 125-6)

Detective Jerry Rigdon was the ninth prosecution witness. The officer described finding Brown's picture identification card on the driver's seat of the suspect vehicle at the scene. (T 129-30) He also told of the show-up procedure at the bank, and how witnesses Kennedy, McCann, Wilford, McClellan, and Schouller all identified the Defendant as the person who robbed the bank. (T 131-2)

Officer D. Morrow next took the stand and described his duties as evidence technician at the scene of the apprehension. (T 134-5) He described that area and told of recovering a certain revolver which, through him, was introduced into evidence (TR 136), as well as the photograph of the gun on the ground where it was found. (T 138) Officer Morrow was also used to introduce a brown glove, mask, shoe, plastic bag, can of brake fluid, a rock, and a .380 pistol, all of which he testified he retrieved from the same intersection where Defendant had been apprehended. (T 138-45) Finally, he testified to recovering, counting, and storing, a certain quantity of United States currency retrieved from the same area. (T 144-5)

The last State's witness was one Elizabeth Alvarez, a records custodian with Barnett Bank. She described the bank's "bait money" system and verified that the money recovered by the police at the scene of Brown's apprehension contained both "bait money"

sets issued to tellers Schouller and Kennedy, according to records maintained for that purpose. (T 146-9) With her testimony the State rested and then so, too, did the defense. (T 150)

There was no formal testimony given at the sentencing hearing. Defense counsel did, however, point out that, at the time of the instant offense, Defendant was not "released on appeal", but rather had been released on a pre-trial bond pursuant to an earlier trial court ruling. The State had initiated the appeal, and had moved for a stay on the trial of other charges pending the outcome of their appeal. (T 238) The State concurred with defense counsel's setting forth of those facts. (T 239).



### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should adopt holdings of the Third, Fourth, and Fifth District Courts of Appeal which have consistently disallowed the use of the ground entitled "disregard for society's *laws*" or "contempt for the criminal justice system" as reasons for departure from the sentencing guidelines set out in Rule 3.701, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. In so doing, this Court should repudiate certain decisions of the First and Second Districts validating use of these grounds for departure, even though both Districts also have occasionally rejected the same grounds.

Even the courts approving the disregard-contempt ground have treated it as superfluous as they ascertain the validity of more specific grounds that might justify departure. On the other hand, the continued existence of this ground encourages trial courts to engage in subjective analysis of defendant's thought processes. It was this very subjectivity which the entire sentencing guidelines enactment was designed to reduce.

This Court should quash the decision of the First District Court of Appeal in Brown v. State, 535 So.2d 671 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988)

## ARGUMENT

THIS COURT SHOULD DISALLOW THE USE OF "DISREGARD FOR LAW", "CONTEMPT FOR THE JUDICIAL SYSTEM", AND SIMILAR CONCEPTS AS GROUNDS FOR DEPARTURE FROM THE SENTENCING GUIDELINES OF RULE 3.701, FLORIDA RULES OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE.

### I. INTRODUCTION

This criminal appeal seeks reversal of Brown v. State, 535 So.2d 671 (Fla. 1st D.C.A. 1988) on grounds that it expressly and directly conflicts with better-reasoned decisions of other District Courts of Appeal and, by inference, this Court. Accordingly, jurisdiction was invoked pursuant to Article V, Section 3 (d)(3), of the Florida Constitution. Indeed, in the third paragraph of its opinion, the First District itself recognized the existence of case law contrary to its holding.

The issue involved here is specific and narrow: Do "disregard for the law" and "contempt for the criminal justice system" constitute valid grounds for departure from the guideline sentencing system adopted by this Court as Rule 3.701, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, In Re Rules of Criminal Procedure (Sentencing Guidelines) 439 So.2d 848 (Fla. 1983)? The case law reveals variations on the just-quoted phrases, such as "lack of respect for the law", "contempt for the judicial system" "lack of regard for the judiciary and the law". Nonetheless, the case law recited below deals with a fairly well-defined concept which has

taken on a life of its own. It should also be noted that the "contempt" sometimes mentioned in these cases connotes "contempt" as the word is used in everyday ordinary language, and is not the legal term advanced in Rules 3.830 and 3.840, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure.

All five District Courts of Appeal have dealt with this issue. Three districts, the Third, the Fourth, and the Fifth, have consistently invalidated the disregard-contempt ground as a basis for departure. The other two districts have not been uniform in their approach to the issue, although each has also rejected the disregard-contempt ground in two or more cases. All such cases will of course be subjected to close analysis below.

Brown further contends that there are both significant legal reasons and important policy considerations militating against the survival of the disregard-contempt ground in any form. These factors have their origin in this Court's very first pronouncements accompanying the enactment of the guidelines.

#### 11. PRESENT STATE OF THE CASE LAW

The District Courts of Appeal for the Third, Fourth and Fifth Districts have flat-out rejected the disregard-contempt ground.

The Third District encountered and rejected this ground in the following cases:

1. Williams v. State, 14 F.L.W. 904 (Fla. 3rd DCA Apr. 11, 1989), citing to Robinson v. State, 530 So.2d

1085 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988); Dixon v. State, *infra*; Scott v. State, *infra*; and Coleman v. State, 521 So.2d 265 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988).

2. Dixon v. State, 513 So.2d 1378 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1987), citing to Scott v. State, *infra*.
3. Scott v. State, 488 So.2d 146 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1986).

The Fourth District, as far as Brown's research could determine, has treated this particular ground only one time and rejected it in Robinson v. State, 530 So.2d 1085 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988) while citing to only one case pertinent to the point: Nodal v. State, 524 So.2d 476 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1988).

The Fifth District has encountered and invalidated this ground three times:

1. Weir v. State, 490 So.2d 234 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986), citing to Lee v. State, *infra*.
2. Medlock v. State, 489 So.2d 848 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986), citing to Lee v. State, *infra*.
3. Lee v. State, 486 So.2d 709 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986), citing to this Supreme Court's decision in Hendrix v. State, 475 So.2d 1218 (Fla. 1985).

The Second District has not produced uniform results in its treatment of the issue. But in its two most recent cases (May and March, 1988, respectively), as well as in two others, that court rejected out-of-hand the disregard-contempt ground:

1. Nodal v. State, 524 So.2d 476 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1988), citing to State v. Weathers, *infra*.
2. Coleman v. State, 521 So.2d 265 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1988), citing to Hendsbee v. State, *infra*.
3. Weathers v. State, 508 So.2d 1332 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1987)

rejected "disregard for criminal justice system" as a ground "under the facts of this case", citing to Hendsbee v. State, *infra*, but also to its own apparently contradictory decision in Santana v. State, 507 So.2d 680 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1987) and also to Booker v. State, 482 So.2d 414 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1986).

4. Hendsbee v. State, 497 So.2d 718 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1986) citing to the Third District's decision in Scott, *supra*.

The Second District has, on the other hand, apparently approved the use of the disregard-contempt ground in the following cases:

1. Powell v. State, 515 So.2d 1294 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1987), citing to Santana v. State, *supra* and to Fuller v. State, *infra*.
2. Barfield v. State, 511 So.2d 752 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1987) (apparently *dicta* only, citing to Fuller v. State, *infra*).
3. Santana v. State, 507 So.2d 680 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1987), citing to Fuller, *infra*.
4. Fuller v. State, 488 So.2d 594 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1986) citing to Booker v. State, *infra* and Casteel v. State, 481 So.2d 72 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986).
5. Booker v. State, 482 So.2d 414 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1985).

The First District has invalidated the disregard-contempt ground in two cases:

1. Sims v. State, 522 So.2d 496 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988) faulting the trial court's conclusions as unsupportable, while recognizing the general validity of such ground as it cited Santana, *supra*.
2. Sarvis v. State, 465 So.2d 573 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), which found the ground unsupported by the record, without discussing the general doctrine or citing any cases.

On the other hand, the First District has upheld the validity of the disregard-contempt ground in only one case (other than the one presently on review): Frye v. State, 497 So.2d 964 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986), citing to Fuller v. State, *supra*, and distinguishing Sarvis v. State, *supra*.

## 111. ANALYSIS OF EVOLUTION OF CASE LAW

Petitioner's research has not been able to discover, in any of the cases outlined above, a dedicated analysis of the validity per se of the disregard-contempt ground. Most cases have treated it summarily, with only conclusionary statements regarding its soundness. A few cases have discussed the alleged reasons supporting the existence of the ground, without really questioning the more basic issue addressed here. It is possible, however, to trace the origins and evolution of the two different lines of cases.

The earliest case invalidating the disregard-contempt ground is the Fifth D.C.A. case of Lee v. State, supra, decided in April, 1986. There, the court specifically invalidated the ground entitled "disregard for the laws imposed by society and the criminal justice system" under the authority of Hendrix v. State, supra, a decision by this Supreme Court in 1985. No discussion or further citations occurred, so a review of Hendrix is helpful at this point.

Hendrix is often cited for the proposition that a trial judge may not depart from guidelines based upon a factor that has already been weighed in arriving at a presumptive sentence. The main opinion did not recite the trial court order under review, but Justice Adkins' sole dissent did. It was brief, with a recounting of defendant's prior record and the judge's statement,

"[The Defendant] has demonstrated complete disregard for the laws of society, . . . " 475 So.2d at 1220. Inasmuch as "disregard for the law" was the only rationale advanced by the trial court to support departure, the Lee court was correct in inferring this Court's disapproval of that ground.

One month later, the Third District reached a like decision in Scott, supra, though its decision was made easier because, on appeal, the State conceded the invalidity of "lack of respect for the criminal justice system" as a reason for departure.

As mentioned above, both the Third and Fifth Districts have had numerous occasions on which to review their seminal cases of Scott and Lee, respectively. They have never waived from their rejection of the disregard-contempt ground, though admittedly there has been no detailed discussion of their reasoning. In fact, the Third District, in the very recent (April 1989) case of Williams, supra, recognized and cited the First District's decision in the Brown case here being reviewed, yet persisted in its rejection of the ground approved in Brown.

Likewise, the Fourth District case of Robinson, not decided until September, 1988, certainly had the benefit of numerous prior precedents on both sides of the issue. But even though the Second District has not ruled consistently, the Fourth D.C.A. nonetheless cited only a then-recent Second D.C.A. case (Nodal, supra) as it summarily rejected the disregard-contempt ground.

As to the line of cases approving the disregard-contempt

ground, the "granddaddy" case would appear to be the Second D.C.A.'s decision of Fuller, supra, in May, 1986. Brown urges that a close review of Fuller reveals its serious deficiencies, faults which were only compounded by cases citing it as precedent.

In Fuller, the trial judge had departed from a guideline sentence of nine to twelve years and sentenced that defendant to life imprisonment. Though not listing them, the opinion states the trial judge listed 20 reasons as a basis for his departure. Again, with no detail, the court agreed "the majority" of bases used were invalid, but approved four reasons. One of these reasons was "lack of regard for the law and judicial system". The opinion then cited to Booker v. State, supra, and Casteel v. State, supra, though it is not clear whether they were cited as precedent for the disregard-contempt ground, or in support of one of the other three approved grounds listed.

Likewise, a review of Casteel reveals no pertinence whatsoever to the issue at hand. In Casteel, the court reviewed five reasons for departure, but disregard-contempt was not one of them. (Presumably Fuller cites Casteel to support other grounds not pertinent to this review.) As for Booker, the opinion nowhere discusses--much less approves--a ground called disregard-contempt. A footnote does set out Judge Harry Lee Coe, III's sentencing order, including his observation that, "Defendant



intends a complete disregard for the Criminal Justice System [sic] as well as for the leniency that has previously been extended to him." 482 So.2d 414 at 418 (Note One continued). And although Judge Coe's order does not delineate specific and separate reasons for departure, it is clear in the appellate decision that it upheld the departure for only three reasons: (a) failure to respond to past rehabilitative efforts, (b) continued violations of probation, and (3) escalating criminal involvement. Id., at 419. The body of the opinion does not approve, or even mention, the trial judge's perception of the Defendant's "intent" to disregard the criminal justice system. Instead, the court in Booker wisely upheld the departure on only the three above-listed objective factors.

So, unlike the Lee case, the Fuller case cannot even pretend to be supported by precedent. But despite its faulty underpinnings every (including the instant Brown case) subsequent First and Second D.C .A. opinion upholding a disregard-contempt departure cites Fuller as its own precedent. Truly this is a "house built upon sand".

Only six months after Fuller, the same Second D.C.A. decided Hendsbee, which summarily rejected "disregard for the criminal justice system", while completely ignoring its own District's decision in Fuller and instead citing the Third D.C.A.'s decision in Scott, (also decided in May, 1986, the same month as had

Fuller). Six more months after Hendsbee, the Second District again reversed course in Santana, approving the disregard-contempt ground while citing Fuller. Yet less than a month after Santana, the Second D.C.A. reviewed the same ground again in Weathers, supra, and rejected "disregard for criminal justice system" as it claimed to distinguish Santana on the facts of the respective cases.

In the meantime, in November, 1986, the First D.C.A. cited Fuller as its sole precedent in validating a ground called "expressed contempt for the judicial system" (no facts were cited) in Frye v. State, supra. It invalidated all the other five remaining (but unnamed) reasons for departure.

The last time the Second D.C.A. approved the disregard-contempt ground was in Powell v. State, supra, in December, 1987. Powell relies on the dubious precedential value of Fuller and Santana. But in addition to that problem, Brown respectfully suggests that Powell is--in the vernacular--simply "bad law".

In Powell, the court approved the trial court's stated reason "lack of respect for the law and the judicial system". It specifically approved the finding because defendant's prior criminal record consisted of "the character and type of prior offenses" which the court apparently believed were demonstrative of disregard for the criminal justice system: past convictions for battery on a law enforcement officer, resisting arrest with

violence, and tampering with a witness. Petitioner contends such an approach is exactly the type of "double dipping", as it was called in Booker, 482 So.2d at 419, explicitly forbidden by this Supreme Court's decision in Hendrix. Stated differently, the Legislature has already enhanced battery on a law enforcement officer to the status of a felony (as opposed to the misdemeanor of simple battery) presumably to reflect society's special interest in protecting police officers from battery. Likewise, resisting arrest and tampering with a witness would ordinarily be indicative of merely misdemeanor-type behavior, but for the danger such conduct poses to the legal system itself. This factor is rightly reflected in their felony status. Petitioner's research did not reveal a request for further appellate review of Powell, but Brown contends its result simply cannot be squared with the Hendrix prohibition against going back into an already-scored prior record to hunt for departure factors.

Fortunately the Second D.C.A. did not pursue the Fuller-Santana-Powell path any farther. In its last two decisions, the 1988 cases of Coleman and Nodal, it realigned itself with the weathers and Hendsbee holdings (which they cited) disapproving the disregard-contempt ground.

The last time the First D.C.A. reviewed this issue, prior to issuance of the decision challenged here, was in Sims v. State, supra. There, as it had done in Sarvis, it took the court's

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