IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



JUN 6 1339

CHARLIE BROWN, JR.,

Petitioner,

v.

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 73,590

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JOHN M. KOENIG, JR. (ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR #394180

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Charlie Brown, Jr., defendant below, will be referred to herein as "Petitioner." Respondent, the State of Florida, will be referred to herein as "the State." References to the record on appeal will be by the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number and references to the transcript of proceedings will be by the symbol "T" followed by the appropriate page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner's statement of the case and facts is acceptable to Respondent for the sole purpose of a proper disposition of this cause on meritorious review. Respondent would further rely on the facts as set forth in the opinion below of the First District Court of Appeal in Brown v. State, 535 So.2d 671 (Fla. 1988).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Disregard for the law and contempt for the judiciary is a valid reason to depart from the recommended guidelines sentence when supported by an adequate factual basis not common to all criminal defendants. In this case, the First District Court of Appeal found that the trial court supported its disregard-contempt ground with the fact that Petitioner committed the instant armed robberies shortly after being released on bond. This is an adequate independent ground sufficient to support the departure in this case. Moreover, the sentence should also be approved based on the trial court's remaining reasons, the validity of which the appellate court chose to pass upon.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

THE FIRST DISTRICT'S OPINION UPHOLDING LACK OF REGARD FOR THE LAW AND THE JUDICIARY AS A VALID BASIS TO DEPART FROM THE SENTENCING GUIDELINES SHOULD BE APPROVED.

Petitioner is requesting this Court to quash the decision of the First District Court of Appeal in Brown v. State, 535 So.2d 671 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988). In that opinion, the Court found that Petitioner's lack of regard for the law and the judicial system was a permissible ground for departure from the sentencing guidelines. Id. at 535. On April 14, 1989, this Court accepted jurisdiction based on Petitioner's cited conflict with the following cases:

- 1. Hendrix v. State, 475 So.2d 1218 (Fla. 1985).
- 2. <u>Hendsbee v. State</u>, 497 So.2d 718 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986).
- 3. Scott v. State, 488 So.2d 146 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986).
- 4. Weir v. State, 490 So.2d 234 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986).
- 5. Madlock v. State, 489 So.2d 848 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986).
- 6. Lee v. State, 486 So.2d 709 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986).

Petitioner contends that the foregoing cases represent "better-reasoned" decisions in comparison to the decision under review and those cases cited therein. However, a cursory review of those opinions demonstrates that there in fact was no reasoning offered in support of the rejection of disregard for

the law and the judiciary as a basis for departure. It was merely a summary rejection based on the trial court's order in each case. Here, the trial court's disregard contempt finding was set forth as follows:

Defendant's conduct displays a lack of regard and a contempt for the law and the judicial system. Despite the Court's recent favorable rulings allowing defendant to replead his prior charges and providing for defendant's release on bond, defendant showed little regard for the iudicial committing robbery. process by armed Further, defendant directly violated the conditions of his release from prison which the Court set forth in its Order for Bail. Specifically, said Order provided defendant was required to reside with his father and that defendant was not to leave his father's residence without being accompanied by his father except defendant was at work. The Order also allowed one half $(\frac{1}{2})$ hour before and after work for defendant to get to and from work. Defendant's failure to abide by conditions demonstrates his direct contempt for the judicial system and warrants an upward departure from the sentencing guidelines. Santana v. State, 507 So.2d 680 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987); Fry v. State, 497 So.2d 964 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986); Fuller v. State, 488 So.2d 594 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1986).

(R 61). The First District found Petitioner's failure to abide by the foregoing conditions coupled with his commission of the instant armed robberies shortly after his release on bond is an adequate factual basis demonstrating a contempt for the judicial system. Brown at 672.

Respondent would liken this case to that of Williams v. State, 484 So.2d 71 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986), approved 504 So.2d 392 In Williams, this Court held that although a (Fla. **1987).** departure based solely upon a defendant's prior criminal record is invalid under Hendrix v. State, 475 So.2d 1218 (Fla. 1985), the trial court's description of Williams' frequent contacts with the criminal justice system was something substantially more than a mere reference to his prior criminal record and was sufficient to justify a departure from the presumptive sentence. **504 So.2d** at **393.** The same seasoning applies here. those cases cited by Petitioner, the trial court's descriptive narration setting forth the independent factual basis demonstrate a contempt for the judicial system was something substantially more than a mere reference to Petitioner's lack of regard and contempt for the judiciary. In fact, the trial court described Petitioner's short timing between his release on bond and his armed robbery offenses as proof of his disregard for the judicial process (R 61). The First District recognized such as further support for upholding the disregard-contempt reason as a basis for departure. 535 So.2d at 672. Ironically, the timing of each offense in relation to prior offenses and release from incarceration or supervision was one of the bases relied upon by this Court in Williams, supra, to uphold the trial court's description of Williams' prior criminal record as a reason for The undersigned would request this Honorable Court departure. to afford the State the same consideration in this case.

noted in <u>Williams</u>, timing is not an aspect of a defendant's prior criminal history which is factored in to arrive at a presumptive guidelines sentence. 504 So.2d 393. Although it can be said that every criminal defendant has a lack of regard and contempt for the judiciary, the commission of an armed robbery just 2 months after being released on bond is not always a basis to support such disregard and contempt. Here, the First District found timing to be an adequate factual basis for the disregard-contempt ground and that finding should be approved by this Court.

Furthermore, in the interest of judicial economy, Respondent would urge this Court to approve the trial court's departure based on the remaining reasons as the First District chose not to pass upon the validity thereof. Brown, supra at 673.

As noted by the trial court, Petitioner displayed a flagrant disregard for the safety of innocent bystanders by pointing a firearm at patrons of the bank which was being robbed and by threatening them with great bodily harm (R 60). Such a reason has specifically been approved by this Court as a valid basis to exceed the presumptive guidelines sentence. Scurry v. State, 489 So.2d 25 (Fla. 1986). The court's reason is factually supported by the record (T 30-37).

The trial court's second reason for departure was based on the fact that Petitioner was arrested for the present offense just 2 months after his release from incarceration as a result of an Order Allowing Defendant To Withdraw Guilty Plea (R 60). As argued above, this reason was also used as a factual basis to support the disregard-contempt ground and has also been upheld by this Court as a valid departure basis. Williams, supra.

The trial court's final reason was the fact that the armed robberies were committed pursuant to a premeditated design. The State concedes that such a reason has been rejected by this Court in <u>Hansbrough v. State</u>, 509 So.2d 1081 (Fla. 1987), where it was held that premeditation is an inherent component of any robbery.

Nevertheless, given the validity of at least one of the reasons, the departure sentence must be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

In light of the foregoing argument and citations of authority, Respondent respectfully urges this Honorable Court to approve the departure sentence imposed herein.